
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Scrutiny Panel  1 – Homeless and Rough Sleepers 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held at The Jeffrey Room, 
The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE on

6 September 2018 at 6pm

George Candler
Chief Executive 

If you need any advice or information regarding this agenda please 
phone Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer who will be able to assist with your 
enquiry.  For further information regarding Scrutiny Panel 1 - 
Homelessness and Rough Sleepers please visit the website 
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Members of the Panel   

Chair Councillor Cathrine Russell
Panel Members Councillor Mohammed Azizur Rahman ( Aziz)

Councillor Sally Beardsworth
Councillor Jane Birch
Councillor Janice Duffy
Councillor Gareth Eales
Councillor Dennis Meredith
Councillor Zoe Smith

Co-opted Member Ian Bates, Director of the Umbrella Fair

Calendar of meetings   

Date Room  
8 November 2018   6:00 pm
24 January 2019
14 March
   8 April

All meetings to be held in the Jeffery 
Room at the Guildhall unless 
otherwise stated

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Scrutiny Panel 1 - 
Homelessness and Rough Sleepers

Agenda
Item No 
and Time

Title Pages Action required 

1.  
6:00pm

Apologies The Chair to note any apologies for 
absence.

2.  Declarations of Interest 
(including Whipping)

Members to state any interests.

3.  Deputations and Public 
Addresses

The Chair to note public address 
requests.
 
The public can speak on any agenda 
item for a maximum of three minutes per 
speaker per item.  You are not required 
to register your intention to speak in 
advance but should arrive at the 
meeting a few minutes early, complete a 
Public Address Protocol and notify the 
Scrutiny Officer of your intention to 
speak.

4.  
6:05pm

Minutes 1 The Scrutiny Panel to approve the 
minutes of the meeting held on 5 July 
2018

5
6:05PM 
TO 
7:15PM 

Witness Evidence 3 The Scrutiny Panel to receive a 
response to its core questions from a 
number of Expert Advisors:

 Cabinet Member for Community 
Safety, NBC

 Chair of the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) and the 
Community Safety Team

 Cabinet Member for Environment
 Cabinet Member for Housing, 

NBC
 Housing Options and Advice 

Manager, NBC
s

6 
7:15PM

Relevant Published Papers 6 The Scrutiny Panel to receive a paper 
around relevant published papers on 
homelessness and rough sleeping

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16171


Scrutiny Panel 1 - Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Minutes - Thursday, 5 July 2018

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

MINUTES OF SCRUTINY PANEL 1 - HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH 
SLEEPERS

Thursday, 5 July 2018

COUNCILLORS 
PRESENT:

Officers

Councillor Cathrine Russell (Chair),  Councillors Sally Beardsworth, 
Gareth Eales and Zoe Smith

Councillor Arthur McCutcheon - observing

Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing
Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer

Members of the 
Public

David Huffadine Smith
Mary Huffadine Smith
Toby Birch

Press James Averill, Democracy Reporter
1. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jane Birch and Janice Duffy.

The Chair advised that Ian Bates, Director, Umbrella Fayre, had accepted the offer to be a 
Co Optee to the Panel.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.

3. DEPUTATIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESSES
Mr David Huffadine-Smith addressed the Scrutiny Panel.
4. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 May 2018 were signed by the Chair as a true and 
accurate record.

5. PRESENTATION TO SET THE SCENE
Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing gave the Scrutiny Panel a presentation that 
set the scene for the Review.  He highlighted the salient points.

The Scrutiny Panel asked questions, made comment and heard:

 The life expectancy of a rough sleeper is 47
 In response to a query, the Scrutiny Panel heard that details of projects that support 

homeless people and rough sleepers will be given to future meetings.
 On average, around 10-12 individuals sleep in the night shelter per night.

1

Agenda Item 4



Scrutiny Panel 1 - Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Minutes - Thursday, 5 July 2018

 The Scrutiny Panel was given a case study of two youths that arrived from York; 
they were given a bus ticket back to York the following day.

 The Scrutiny Panel heard of two rough sleepers that had died last year
 The Scrutiny Panel commented that on occasions, sleeping rough is a life style 

choice

Phil Harris was thanked for his informative presentation

At this point Mr Huffadine-Smith addressed the Scrutiny Panel he queried the statistical 
information regarding rough sleepers, commenting that in his opinion there were around 
60-80.  He felt November was not the best time to carry out a Rough Sleepers Count and 
was concerned that only those that are bedded down can be counted.  Mr Huffadine Smith 
made reference to hidden homeless and he expressed his opinion that ex-Servicemen 
have difficulty adapted to civil life.  He went on to refer to ex-Prisoners and Foreign 
nationals.  He concluded his address by referring to slavery and suggested that people 
need to be engaged with at the point of their need.

Mr Huffadine Smith asked to send 
his written response to the Scrutiny Panel.  The Chair asked Mr Huffadine Smith to include 
evidence within his written address.

6. CORE QUESTIONS
The Scrutiny Panel considered the draft core questions and made updates.

AGREED: That the core questions, as attached, are sent to the expert advisors, as 
detailed on the Scope of this Review

7. SITE VISITS
The Chair advised that the following site visits had been arranged and asked Councillors 
to confirm with the Scrutiny Officer their availability:

Tuesday 7 August 2018

Hope Centre                      9:30am and then onto Oasis House
 
Women’s Refuge            11:45am  meeting residents etc
 
Emmaus Centre, MK,  13 August meeting at Emmaus at 10:30am

8. COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The Community Impact Assessment for this Review was approved and would be 
published on the Overview and Scrutiny WebPage.

2



1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

SCRUTINY PANEL  1 – HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH 
SLEEPERS

The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review:  Homelessness and 
Rough Sleepers

The purpose of the Review is 

 To review the way in which the Council and its partners engage with rough 
sleepers1, consider the best way in which ‘Housing First’2 can be used to 
reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the nature and 
extent of ‘hidden homelessness’3 and how it can best be addressed.

1  For the purpose of rough sleeping counts and estimates, ‘rough sleepers’ are defined 
as people who are sleeping / bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in 
tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments) or sleeping in buildings or other 
places that are not designed for habitation (such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, 
cars, derelict boats, stations, etc).

2  The ‘Housing First’ approach was first developed in New York by the Pathways to 
Housing organisation in 1992 and has proved very successful in the USA, Canada and 
Europe. Unlike other supported housing models, individuals do not need to prove they 
are ready for independent housing, or progress through a series of accommodation 
and treatment services. There are no conditions placed on them, other than a 
willingness to maintain a tenancy agreement. Housing First is designed to provide 
long-term, open-ended support for their ongoing needs. Through the provision of 
intensive, flexible and person-centred support, 70-90% of Housing First residents are 
able to remain housed. Having a settled home improves health and wellbeing and 
reduces ineffective contact with costly public services.                     

3  ‘Hidden homelessness’ is a term that is used to describe the people who become 
homeless but do not show up in official figures. This includes people who become 
homeless but find a temporary solution by sofa surfing (staying with family members or 
friends) or living in hostels, nightshelters, squats or other insecure accommodation.

CORE QUESTIONS:   

3

Agenda Item 5



2

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel: 

1 Please provide details of what contact or involvement your organisation 
has with people who are homeless (sleeping rough or ‘hidden’) and the 
services and organisations that are able to address their needs.

2 Please provide details of your understanding of the causes and extent of 
rough sleeping in the borough.

3 Please provide details of your understanding of the impact that rough 
sleeping has on the safety, life expectancy and health of people who are 
sleeping rough, and the implications that rough sleeping have for 
safeguarding and community safety. 

4 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature of the work that 
is currently being undertaken by Northampton Borough Council and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with people who are 
sleeping rough in the borough. 

5 Please provide details of your understanding of how effective 
Northampton Borough Council and local groups, services and 
organisations have been in engaging purposefully with people who are 
sleeping rough and helping them to come off the streets.

6 What changes would you like Northampton Borough Council and local 
groups, services and organisations to make in order to engage more 
effectively with people who are sleeping rough and to help them come off 
the streets, in a planned way, as quickly as possible?

7 In what ways do you think the ‘Housing First’ model can be used most 
effectively to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and in what ways (if 
any) could your organisation work differently to ensure its success? 

8 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature and extent of 
‘hidden homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the people 
affected and what contact (if any) they have had with Northampton 
Borough Council, Northampton Partnership Homes and/or other local 
advice and support providers.   

9 Please can you suggest ways in which services and organisations can 
connect with, and meaningfully engage with, harder to reach groups?  

10 How are data, statistics and demographics gathered and used to meet the 
needs of men and women who are homeless?

11 What do you think are the main reasons for hidden homelessness and 
why do you think people sofa surf and are without settled 
accommodation?

4



3

12 How effective do you think the Council is at informing people and 
organisations about its homelessness policies and procedures, and in 
what ways could it improve its communication?

13 Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 
homelessness and rough sleeping?

14 Do you have any other recommendations for the Scrutiny Panel to 
consider including within its final report?

5



 1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH 
SLEEPERS 

 
 
 
 
 

The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review:  Homelessness and 

Rough Sleepers 

 

The purpose of the Review is  

 

 To review the way in which the Council and its partners engage with rough 

sleepers1, consider the best way in which ‘Housing First’2 can be used to 

reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the nature and 

extent of ‘hidden homelessness’3 and how it can best be addressed. 

1  For the purpose of rough sleeping counts and estimates, ‘rough sleepers’ are defined 
as people who are sleeping / bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in 
tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments) or sleeping in buildings or other 
places that are not designed for habitation (such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, 
cars, derelict boats, stations, etc). 

2  The ‘Housing First’ approach was first developed in New York by the Pathways to 
Housing organisation in 1992 and has proved very successful in the USA, Canada and 
Europe. Unlike other supported housing models, individuals do not need to prove they 
are ready for independent housing, or progress through a series of accommodation 
and treatment services. There are no conditions placed on them, other than a 
willingness to maintain a tenancy agreement. Housing First is designed to provide 
long-term, open-ended support for their ongoing needs. Through the provision of 
intensive, flexible and person-centred support, 70-90% of Housing First residents are 
able to remain housed. Having a settled home improves health and wellbeing and 
reduces ineffective contact with costly public services.                      

3  ‘Hidden homelessness’ is a term that is used to describe the people who become 
homeless but do not show up in official figures. This includes people who become 
homeless but find a temporary solution by sofa surfing (staying with family members or 
friends) or living in hostels, nightshelters, squats or other insecure accommodation. 

 

 

 

Response from Emma Forbes, Housing Options & Advice Manager, 
Northampton Borough Council 
 

6



 2 

CORE QUESTIONS:    
 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 
1 Please provide details of what contact or involvement your 

organisation has with people who are homeless (sleeping rough or 
‘hidden’) and the services and organisations that are able to address 
their needs. 

 
Northampton Borough Council has a statutory duty to provide advice and 
assistance to everyone who is homeless or threatened with 
homelessness in the Borough, including people who are sleeping rough. 
 
The Housing Options and Advice Team works to prevent or relieve 
homelessness all year round, by working with households to help them to 
retain or secure suitable housing, and to access other forms of support. 

 
In Northampton, we have a dedicated Single Homelessness Service that 
offers single homeless people and childless couples (including those who 
are sleeping rough, ‘sofa surfing’ or at risk of becoming homeless) with 
advice, information, assistance and support: 
 
Single Homelessness Adviser 
 
Based in the One Stop Shop, the Single Homelessness Adviser provides 
a ‘triage’ service for single people and childless couples who are 
homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. 

Working closely with the Street Outreach Team, the Tenancy Relations 
Officer and the Nightshelter, the Single Homelessness Adviser is 
particularly adept at delaying and preventing homelessness, especially in 
relation to private rented accommodation and family breakdown. 

Street Outreach Workers 

The Council’s two Street Outreach Workers deliver an assertive outreach 
service to people who are sleeping rough, providing them with the 
encouragement and support to access emergency housing and support. 

Using the intelligence they have gathered from a variety of sources 

(including members of the public) the Street Outreach Workers will visit all 

areas of the borough (including woods, parks and cemeteries) where it is 

known or suspected that someone may be sleeping rough. 

Northampton’s Emergency Nightshelter 

Northampton’s Nightshelter first opened its doors on 6 February 2017. 

Every night, between 9.00pm and 9.00am, it provides somewhere safe, 

warm and dry to stay for up to 20 homeless men. There is also alternative 

emergency provision for women who are sleeping rough. 

7



 3 

As the Nightshelter is not a direct access shelter, people will only be 

admitted if they have already been risk assessed and meet the access 

criteria. Decisions on whether or not a person is accommodated in the 

Nightshelter are normally made on the day they are interviewed. 

Everything at the Nightshelter (including the accommodation, toiletries, 

evening meal and breakfast) is provided free of charge. 

Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) 

Although winter often poses the greatest risk to people’s health, it also 
provides increased opportunities to engage with entrenched rough 
sleepers and other hard-to-reach groups because they may be more likely 
to accept support at this time of year. 

Although there is no strict definition of what counts as ‘severe weather’, 
SWEP normally operates when the temperature falls below freezing and 
is forecast to remain below freezing for at least three consecutive nights. 

Throughout the winter, we monitor the Met Office's weather forecasts, 
taking into account any weather (including extreme cold, wind and rain) 
that is likely to increase the risk of serious harm to people sleeping rough. 

SWEP will operate from Oasis House between 9,00pm and 7.00am. 
Anyone wishing to use SWEP must arrive before 11.00pm. 

If someone is sleeping rough – or is at risk of having to sleep rough – and 
does not meet the Nightshelter’s access criteria (because, for example, 
they are unwilling to engage with services) they can register for SWEP.  

Multi agency strategy 

Working with more than 30 services and organisations, the Council 
developed a 3 year multi agency strategy, ‘TOGETHER we change lives’, 
to tackle, prevent and reduce rough sleeping. 
 
The vast majority of the services and organisations that signed up to the 
multi-agency strategy – including supported housing providers, faith 
groups and mental health/substance misuse support providers – have 
worked collaboratively with the Council to reduce rough sleeping. 
 
Regrettably, a small number of the organisations that initially pledged their 
support for ‘TOGETHER we change lives’ have not done what they 
promised and, as a result of their change of approach, they are 
undermining our efforts to end the need for people to sleep rough in 
Northampton and, in some instances, they are sustaining rough sleeping. 
 
 
 

 

8



 4 

2 Please provide details of your understanding of the causes and 

extent of rough sleeping in the borough. 

 

Rough sleeping is a complex problem and the longer that someone 

sleeps rough, the harder it can be to help them leave the streets.  

 

The causes of homelessness are numerous and varied, and are 

exacerbated by the severe shortage of suitable, affordable housing. The 

main causes are relationship breakdown, leaving hospital or prison in an 

unplanned way, tenancy breakdown, the loss of private rented housing, 

mental ill-health, substance misuse and unmet support needs 

 

We are also seeing an increase in the number of people who have arrived 

in Northampton from other areas, and other countries, without making any 

accommodation arrangements and end up sleeping rough. As they have 

no ‘local connection’, the team will seek to reconnect them to their ‘home 

area’ in order that they can access the maximum help available. 

 

Accurately measuring the exact numbers of people sleeping rough is 

challenging. In 2010, the Coalition Government introduced a snapshot 

method which requires every local authority either to count or estimate the 

number of people sleeping rough in their area on one night every year. 

 

Each year, the Council carries out an Annual Rough Sleepers Count 

strictly in accordance with government criteria and guidance. This is the 

agreed method for tracking progress in tackling rough sleeping. 

 

During Northampton’s last Rough Sleepers Count on 10 November 2017, 

a total of 36 volunteers took part in the Count, which covered all 33 Wards 

and was carried out, as usual, between Midnight and 3.00am. The 

volunteers observed a total of 13 people (10 men and 3 women) ‘bedded 

down’ in the borough. On the night of the Count, 11 men were staying in 

Northampton’s Emergency Nightshelter. 

 

The Council is planning to meet with local services and organisations to 

develop improved ways of recording and assessing rough sleeping. 

However, based on all of the intelligence available, we estimate that on an 

average night there are around 25 non-UK nationals sleeping in tents on 

the outskirts of Northampton and around 15 people sleeping rough.   

 

Our priority – reflected in ‘TOGETHER we change lives’ – is to intervene 

early, to get people off the streets before they become entrenched. 

 

 

 

9



 5 

3 Please provide details of your understanding of the impact that 
rough sleeping has on the safety, life expectancy and health of 
people who are sleeping rough, and the implications that rough 
sleeping have for safeguarding and community safety.  

 
It is an established fact that people’s life expectancy is reduced if they 
sleep rough regularly and/or over a long period. Sleeping rough also has 
a devastating effect on a person’s health, self-esteem and wellbeing. 
 
As reported in the Government’s Rough Sleeping Strategy (August 2018): 

 

 The average age of death for a person who dies whilst living on the 
streets or in homeless accommodation in England is 47 years, 
compared to 77 for the general population 
 

 It is estimated that around 35% of people who die whilst sleeping rough 
or living in homeless accommodation died due to alcohol or drugs, 
compared to 2% in the general population 
 

 Evidence suggests that homeless people have far higher rates of 
schizophrenia, anxiety disorders, depression and personality disorders 
than the general population 
 

 Around 31% of homeless people have complex needs (two or more 
support needs) 
 

 Evidence suggests that a person’s support needs increase the longer 
they stay on the streets, and also with age 
 

 People who sleep rough are frequently victims of violence and theft. In 
a survey of 458 homeless people who had slept rough in the past 12 
months, one in three reported that they had been deliberately hit or 
kicked or experienced another form of violence, and more than half 
reported having their possessions stolen 

Community safety 
 

Although the Council’s priority is to ensure that people who are sleeping 
rough receive the help, support and encouragement they need to come off 
the streets, it must protect the health and safety of the wider community. 

The Anti-Social Behaviour Unit and the Community Safety & Engagement 
Team are responsible for tackling ASB in the town. 

 
ASB that is linked to rough sleeping may include urinating and defecating 
in the street or shop doorways, aggressive begging, injecting drugs, 
leaving drug paraphernalia in public places, and street drinking. Members 
of the public can find this behaviour very intimidating.  
 

10



 6 

Each year, the Council invests a significant amount of time and money in 
clearing tents, soiled bedding, bloodied needles, human waste and 
discarded rubbish from sites that have been used, but are then 
abandoned, by people sleeping rough. 

In 2018, the workers who cleared one of those abandoned sites – in the 
grounds of a church, close to a children’s nursery – removed a total of 300 
needles, including some that had been concealed in the canvas around 
the tent poles in order to hurt anyone who attempted to remove them. 

Tents, bedding, food and personal possessions will only be removed if 
they have been abandoned, are obstructing the highway or pose a risk to 
community safety. 

If the Police or the Council are concerned about a particular site and 
decide that it needs to be cleared, they will normally speak to the 
occupants during the days before the site is cleared in the hope they can 
be persuaded to move to another location. This approach usually works. 

When a site is cleared, the Police and/or the Council will arrange for any 
tents, soiled bedding/clothing, food, drugs paraphernalia, human waste 
and rubbish to be disposed of. Any personal possessions will be put into 
bags, ‘tagged’ and placed in storage for 28 days. Relevant agencies will 
be informed of the action that the people who are affected will need to take 
to recover their possessions from storage.  

 
4 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature of the 

work that is currently being undertaken by Northampton Borough 
Council and local groups, services and organisations to engage with 
people who are sleeping rough in the borough.  

 
Every week, the Street Outreach Workers undertake at least two outreach 
sessions (one very early in the morning and the other very late at night) to 
find, and engage with, people who are sleeping rough in Northampton.  

Using the intelligence they have gathered from a variety of sources 
(including members of the public) the Street Outreach Workers will visit all 
areas of the borough (including woods, parks and cemeteries) where it is 
known or suspected that someone may be sleeping rough. 

The Street Outreach Workers are assertive, persistent in persuading 
people to leave the streets, and deliver a consistent message. Often this 
can take time, especially if the person who is sleeping rough has multiple 
complex needs and/or has been sleeping rough for a long time. 

In addition to the twice-weekly outreach sessions, the Outreach Workers 
hold regular housing advice surgeries in Oasis House and the Guildhall. 

 

 

11



 7 

The Street Outreach Workers’ priority is to intervene as early as possible 
in order to prevent homelessness and reduce, to an absolute minimum, 
the time people spend sleeping rough. To do this, they negotiate with 
landlords and families and help people access the Nightshelter, local 
housing projects and the private rented sector. 

Many of the people sleeping rough in Northampton have previously been 
let down by local charities and services. Establishing a rapport with them, 
and gaining their trust, can take time but this is something that the 
Outreach Workers are very good at. 

 
More recently, we have found that a small but vociferous group currently 
operating in Northampton has deliberately undermined the work of the 
Outreach Workers and actively discouraged homeless people from 
leaving the streets.  

 
One of the challenges the Street Outreach Workers are facing at the 
moment was succinctly articulated by one of the people they found 
sleeping in a shop doorway in Abington Street who said: “I am getting 
three square meals a day, free clothing, bedding and toiletries, and 
money from benefits and begging to spend on drugs and alcohol. Why 
would I want to go into the Nightshelter?” 
 
During a recent outreach session, the Street Outreach Workers found four 
people who were sleeping rough but were not homeless; they had 
accommodation but, for a variety of reasons, did not return home that 
night. The Outreach Team is working to understand and address this. 

 
5 Please provide details of your understanding of how effective 

Northampton Borough Council and local groups, services and 
organisations have been in engaging purposefully with people who 
are sleeping rough and helping them to come off the streets. 

 
The Council is successful – the Single Homelessness Adviser, the Street 
Outreach Workers and the Nightshelter Team don’t give up on people. 
 
A minority of groups and organisations undermine what the Council is 
doing by refusing, or failing, to share information. This is to the serious 
detriment of homeless people and is putting their lives at risk.  
 
The Hope Centre, for example, has recently stated (on its website) that 60 
people sleep rough in Northampton every night, but it has not provided 
the Street Outreach Team with details of where they are sleeping rough. 

 

There can be no justification for local groups, services and organisations 

withholding information that will help the Council and its partners to 

identify, and engage with, people who are sleeping rough with a view to 

helping them to come off the streets. 

 

 

 

12



 8 

6 What changes would you like Northampton Borough Council and 
local groups, services and organisations to make in order to engage 
more effectively with people who are sleeping rough and to help 
them come off the streets, in a planned way, as quickly as possible? 

 
If everyone works together, we can end the need for people to sleep 
rough in Northampton. Although this was something that everyone signed 
up to in ‘TOGETHER we change lives’, a small number of groups, 
services and organisations are not sharing information, working in a 
collaborative, joined-up way and/or delivering a consistent message. 
 
Too many people are condoning rough sleeping and, intentionally or 
unintentionally, sustaining people on the streets rather than doing 
everything they can to help them to come off the streets. 
 
What we need is for everyone to become more outcome-focused and to 
focus on improving the life chances of people who are sleeping rough. 
 
We hear time and time again of the people who have been accessing 
some services for a number of years but are still sleeping rough or without 
settled accommodation. It is only right that we ask why that is and what (if 
anything) have those organisations done to change that? 
 
Engagement is a vital tool in our toolkit, but it must be purposeful and 
focus on our desired outcome: helping people to leave the streets.  

 
7 In what ways do you think the ‘Housing First’ model can be used 

most effectively to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and in 
what ways (if any) could your organisation work differently to ensure 
its success?  
 
The ‘Housing First’ model could play a key role in meeting the needs of 
people sleeping rough with complex needs (where our usual approach 
would not be successful) and we are keen to learn more about how this 
could work in Northampton.  
 
The Government is planning to undertake an extensive and robust 
evaluation of its three ‘Housing First’ pilots and it has given an 
undertaking to ensure that all learning from these pilots will be used to 
inform decisions on rollout. The evaluation will begin in autumn 2018 

 
The ‘Housing First’ model is prescribed and requires appropriate 
resourcing to ensure successful outcomes.  

We will need to carefully consider how we make best use of this model, 
so that it is a real tool to help the most vulnerable, and does not 
incentivise disengagement from services, or a refusal to engage with 
services in hope of being ‘fast tracked’ into this type of housing. 
 
 

 

13



 9 

8 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature and 
extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ in the borough, including the 
profile of the people affected and what contact (if any) they have had 
with Northampton Borough Council, Northampton Partnership 
Homes and/or other local advice and support providers.    

 
By its very nature, ‘hidden homelessness’ is extremely difficult to quantify. 
 
We are hoping that, as a result of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
and the changes we have recently made to our Single Homelessness 
Service, we will be better equipped in the future to comment on the nature 
and extent ‘hidden homelessness’ in the Borough. 
 
During Autumn 2018, we will establish a Homelessness Forum and start 
work on the development of a comprehensive Homelessness Review that 
will inform the new ‘Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy’.  
 

9 Please can you suggest ways in which services and organisations 
can connect with, and meaningfully engage with, harder to reach 
groups?   

 
With such a large number of groups, services and organisations, 
Northampton is very well placed to engage with harder to reach groups. 
 
It is essential, however, that everyone is committed to sharing information, 
working together, delivering consistent messages and encouraging them 
to engage with services that can help them leave the streets. 
 
It is essential, also, that groups – such as Project 16:15 – stop using 
misinformation and personal abuse on social media to undermine the 
action that the Street Outreach Workers, the Nightshelter and other 
organisations are taking to tackle, prevent and reduce rough sleeping. 
 
Misinformation and adversarial ‘posts’ on social media have put the Street 
Outreach Workers at risk of abuse from those who are sleeping rough and 
members of the public because of the way they have been portrayed. 
 
Rather than undermining the good work that is being done to tackle, 
prevent and reduce rough sleeping, everyone should affirm their 
commitment to ending the need for people to sleep rough and commit to 
using all of their influence to persuade people to come off the streets. 
 

10 How are data, statistics and demographics gathered and used to 
meet the needs of men and women who are homeless? 

 
The Council submits quarterly homelessness returns (P1E / HCLIC) to the 
MHCLG. It also has access to locally collected data, including the Street 
Outreach Log, the Nightshelter Referrals, the Nightshelter statistics and 
the Single Homelessness Adviser’s assessments and records. 
 
The new ‘Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy’ will be informed by 
a range of data and information. 

 

14



 10 

11 What do you think are the main reasons for hidden homelessness 
and why do you think people sofa surf and are without settled 
accommodation? 

 
The main reasons are the lack of affordable accommodation in the private 
sector, shortage of accommodation in the social sector and welfare 
reforms. Sometimes people do not know what help is available and/or 
how to access that help. There needs to be a ‘one door’ approach, more 
effort needs to be made to increase awareness of the housing options 
available and all organisations need to make every contact matter. 

 
12 How effective do you think the Council is at informing people and 

organisations about its homelessness policies and procedures, and 
in what ways could it improve its communication? 
 
There is a lot of room for improvement. 

 
In response to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Council is 
seeking to improve the information on its website and in leaflet form, 
particularly for vulnerable groups. This information will be available in 
different languages. 

 
13 Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation 

to homelessness and rough sleeping? 
 
N/A 

 
14 Do you have any other recommendations for the Scrutiny Panel to 

consider including within its final report? 
 

N/A 
 
 
Emma Forbes 
Housing Options & Advice Manager 
Northampton Borough Council 
 
September 2018 

15



NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY PANEL 3
 HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPERS

6 SEPTEMBER 2018

BRIEFING NOTE: BACKGROUND DATA

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 At its inaugural scoping meeting, Scrutiny Panel 3 (Homelessness and Rough 
Sleepers) agreed that it would receive details of background research reports to 
inform its evidence base.

1.2 There are a number of published academic, Governmental and think-tank 
journals that explore the causes and effects of homelessness and rough 
sleeping which will be presented to the Scrutiny Panel over a series of meetings 
for its information.

1.3 The research papers for consideration by the Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on   
20 September 2018 are:

 Rough Sleeping (England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good 
Practice Briefing  - Shelter

 HomelessLink paper 
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-
attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf

1.4    Rough Sleeping (England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good Practice 
Briefing   - Shelter

1.4.1   The briefing note reports that the Housing First Model was developed in the 
United Stated and has demonstrated high degrees of success in both housing 
and supporting those who are chronically street homeless, with multiple and 
complex needs.  It goes on to state that it is founded on the principle of housing 
being a basic human right and provides permanent accommodation for people 
straight from the street.  The model has no preconditions of addressing wider 
social care and support needs.

1.4.1 The summary of the briefing states:

“As is evident from research to date, no single model of housing and support is likely 
to be effective for all homeless people with complex needs. Shelter has previously 
called for the consideration and development of new approaches.

16

Agenda Item 6

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing


2

The purpose of this briefing is not to advocate for any single model, but to examine 
the potential for the housing first approach to complement existing provision in the 
UK.”

1.4.2 The briefing paper reports:

“The housing first model operates by taking account of two key 
convictions:
1. housing is a basic human right, not a reward for clinical success 
2. once the chaos of homelessness is eliminated from a person’s life, 

clinical and social stabilisation occur faster and are more enduring.12 
There are a range of different housing first programmes operating across 
the US, which are underpinned by the following common principles. 
Immediate (or relatively immediate), permanent accommodation is 
provided to service users directly from the streets, without the 
requirement of assessed housing readiness. This is achieved by the 
housing first agency leasing private sector tenancies and renting these on 
to service users. This allows the agency to control access to housing and 
ensure it is targeted at the most vulnerable and complex cases. Typically 
these are people with mental health and/or substance use problems, who 
may not have alternative options or have not benefited from the traditional 
staircase approach. Tenancies are usually obtained and allocated on a 
scatter-site basis to avoid concentrations in any single locality.”

1.4.3 The briefing paper provides examples of the Housing First Model being 
presented in the UK, including:

“The housing first model presents a particularly innovative use of the 
private rented sector at a time when increasing emphasis is being placed 
upon its use for households in housing need in the UK.14 Furthermore, 
although it is still primarily a US initiative, elements of the model do exist 
in the UK.”

“Action Housing and Support Ltd, Derbyshire 

Action’s floating support services in Chesterfield, Bolsover, and North 
East Derbyshire, target substance users and people with offending 
backgrounds. It provides cross-tenure support to local authority, 
registered social landlord (RSL), and private sector tenants, in addition to 
owner occupiers. Generally, the service prioritises and focuses on people 
that tend to fall between other services due to the extent or complexity of 
their needs, such as substance users who have underlying mental health 
problems. Few referrals are refused and Action works with service users 
whose dependencies range from current and active use to those who are 
now drug/alcohol free.

While Action does not control the housing of service users, it can provide 
support for up to two years (with some flexibility for extension). Service 
users who have left the scheme can be re-referred if difficulties arise. The 

17



3

scheme has achieved notable success; in each of the last three years, 
more than 90 per cent of people who have left the programme have 
maintained independent living.”

“BCHA, Bridge Project, Exeter 

This project was developed as part of a strategic approach to address 
homelessness within the city, particularly that of long-term, repeat street 
sleepers. Exeter City Council commissioned BCHA as the support 
provider, Signpost Care Partnership as the housing provider, and Street 
Homeless Outreach Team as the referral agency. The organisations work 
in partnership in order to provide secure accommodation with high levels 
of support to homeless people directly from the streets. Typically, service 
users have multiple and complex needs and previous conventional 
methods have failed to resolve their homelessness. The accommodation 
is made up of a mixture of dispersed shared and single RSL flats, with 
current capacity to support service users. The accommodation is not 
permanent, but let for up to two years, providing long-term settled 
accommodation with the potential to move on to permanent social 
housing. The flats can accommodate single men, women, and couples, 
including those with pets. Access to support is available between 8am 
and 6pm five days a week, but can be provided seven days a week if 
service users require. The support is funded through a Supporting People 
contract. BCHA are keen to progress and develop the model in other 
areas. The organisation has considerable experience in managing private 
sector leasing stock and there is significant potential for developments in 
this area. “

1.4.4 The briefing concludes that  “Housing first programmes have expanded 
markedly in the US, based on a growing evidence base of effectiveness 
in providing more permanent solutions to the needs of homeless people 
with multiple and complex needs. Elements of the approach are present 
in the UK, and achieving some success. However, in order to realise the 
opportunities the model may present, and support in its wider adoption, a 
similar evidence base will be required in the UK. No single model will be 
appropriate for everyone and research and evaluation will need to identify 
for whom this approach may be most appropriate and effective. It will also 
need to identify potential cost benefit savings across a range of health, 
social care and support services to build the multi-disciplinary 
partnerships that will be required to meet the needs of homeless people 
with multiple and complex needs.”

1.4.5 A copy of the full briefing paper can be located.

1.5 HomelessLink – Support for Single Homeless People In England (Annual 
Review 2017)

1.5.1 The Executive Summary of the Report states:

18

http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/145853/GP_Briefing_Housing_First.pdf


4

“For the past ten years, Homeless Link has produced an annual review of 
the support that is available to single homeless people. These reports 
provide crucial evidence on the homelessness sector and the people it 
supports and are the only data source of their kind available on 
homelessness services in England. This report outlines findings from five 
key data sources, including survey data provided by accommodation 
providers and day centres across England. The findings provide a 
detailed overview of the nature and availability of key services for single 
homeless people. 

Trends in single homelessness 
• Approximately 200,000 single people experience homelessness in 
England each year.
• An average of 77,000 single people are estimated to experience some 
form of homelessness on any one night. 
• Between April 2016 and March 2017, 19,460 people who made a 
homelessness application in England were found to not be in priority need 
by their Local Authority and the majority of them were likely to be single 
homeless people. This represents 17% of the total number of households 
making a homelessness application. 
• In 2017, a total of 4,751 people were estimated to be sleeping rough in 
England on any given night, which represents an increase of 15% since 
2016. 

Availability of homelessness services 
• There are currently 1,121 accommodation projects for single homeless 
people in England. 
• A total of 196 day centres currently operate throughout England. 
• Homeless England data identifies a reduction in both the number of 
accommodation projects (-5%) and the number of day centres (-8%) in 
the past year. 
• The number of bed spaces has decreased by 3% in the past year, and 
now stands at 34,497 in total. 
• 39% of the responding accommodation providers reported a decrease in 
funding, with 38% reporting no change in funding over the past 12 
months. 15% reported an increase in funding. 

Delivery of services 
• Accommodation providers and day centres provide a wide variety of 
services to address individuals’ needs, and respondents rarely reported 
that services are completely unavailable.
• People who are homeless face difficulties in accessing mental health 
services. • Services provided in-house on an organisation’s premises are 
less likely to have barriers to access than services provided via formal 
referral to external services. 

Outcomes, move on and service development 

19



5

• Among accommodation projects, the level of resident engagement is 
highest for money management activities and for meaningful activities 
such as sports or art groups. 
• Accommodation providers were most likely to report homelessness 
prevention as their main outcome. 
• 74% of accommodation providers continue to support individuals after 
they move on from their services. 
• People accessing accommodation services face significant structural 
barriers to moving on. Lack of affordable accommodation is the main 
barrier.”

1.5.2 A copy of the full report can be located. 

2         Recommendations

2.1 That the information provided in this briefing note informs the evidence base of 
this Scrutiny Review.

Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Cathrine Russell, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 3 – Homelessness 
and Rough Sleepers

17 July 2018  

20

https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Witness Evidence
	Response to Core Questions (Overview  Scrutiny) Emma Forbes

	6 Relevant Published Papers

